STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No.2014AP002095

STATE OF WISCONSIN EX REL. VINCENT MARTINEZ, PETITIONER-APPELLANT,

RECEIVED

VS.

BRIAN HAYES,

**RESPONDENT-RESPONDENT.** 

OCT 2 6 2015 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY THE HONORABLE ANDREW T. GONRING, PRESIDING CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO.14CV594 ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

BRIEF OF PETITIONER-APPELLANT

VINCENT MARTINEZ #204321 PETITIONER-APPELLANT PRO SE WAUPUN CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTION P.O. BOX 351 WAUPUN, WI 53963-0351

# A.

#### B. Issues Presented

1. The Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) did not allow Martinez to confront and cross-examine Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson during the revocation of Martinez' extended supervision;

The Trial Court Answered that habeas corpus was not the proper forum.

2. The ALJ did not make a finding of good cause, justifying the witnesses Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson not appearing and testifying at the revocation hearing and being subject to cross-examination;

The Trial Court Answered that habeas corpus was not the proper forum.

3. The ALJ did not make a determination that the hearsay statements of Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson were reliable;

The Trial Court Answered that habeas corpus was not the proper forum, that the hearsay statements fail under the catch-all exception to the hearsay rules.

4. Attorney Katherine Romanowich provided Martinez with ineffective assistance of counsel in the following instancees:

a. Attorney Romanowich did not object to the hearsay testimony of Police Officer Kristina Meilahn and Extended Supervision Agent Jennifer Duffy-Juoni, neither witnessed any of the events to wich they testified to;

b. Attorney Romanowich did not object on procedural

due process grounds to Martinez' right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson;

c. Attorney Romanowich did not object to the ALJ failure to determine good cause for the witnesses Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson failure to appear at the revocation hearing and being subject to confrontation and cross-examination;

The trial Court Answered that Martinez should have requested the Division of Hearings and Appeals to conduct a hearing into Martinez' claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, that counsel was not ineffective.

C. Statement on Oral Argument and Publication of Opinion Martinez believes that the issues involved in this case can be addressed and resolved by the briefs. Martinez also believes that the Court's decision should be published to help clarify and develop the law in revocation of extended supervision proceedings.

### D. Statement of Case and Procedural Status

Martinez states that on or about August 6, 2014, in the State of Wisconsin, Washington County, Circuit Court, Case No 14CV594, Martinez filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, pursuant to 782.01 Wis.Stats., (R.5).

Martinez asserted that his extended supervision was revoked contrary to the laws of the United States Constitution Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause and Sixth Amendment C-

ounsel Clause, that Martinez' extended supervision was revoked for 5 years and 2 months. That Martinez had no other available remedy at law to redress the violation of his rights.

On or about August 19, 2014, the Honorable Andrew T. Gonring, presiding circuit court judge, entered a decision and order denying Martinez' petition for a writ of habeas corpus (R.8).

On or about August 29, 2014, Martinez filed a timely. notice of appeal (R.11).

On or about January 16, 2015, this Court of Appeals District II, issued a decision and order remanding the matter back to the circuit court for further proceedings (R. 22).

On or about January 29, 2015, Martinez filed a motion for appointment of counsel (R.24). The Court on or about February 5, 2015, entered a decision and order denying Martinez the appointment of counsel (R.27).

On or about February 5, 2015, the Court enters a decision and order supplementing the record (R.28)

On or about February 16, 2015, Martinez filed a motion for reconsideration for appointment of counsel (R.36). The Court on or about February 17, 2015, entered a decision denying Martinez' motion for reconsideration for appointment of counsel (R.37).

On or about April 27, 2015, the Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss Petition and to Quash Writ (R.53), and a

3.

Brief-Supporting Motion to Dismiss Petition and Quash Writ (R.55).

On or about May 28, 2015, Martinez filed a motion in opposition to Brian Hayes Motion to Dismiss Habeas Corpus Petition (R.63).

On or about June 15, 2015, the respondent filed a Brief in Support of Motion-Reply Brief Supporting Motion to Dismiss Petition and to Quash Writ (R.67).

On or about July 6, 2015, the Court, the Honorable Andrew T. Gonring, presiding circuit court judge, entered a decision and order dismissing Martinez' petition for a writ of habeas corpus (R.69).

On or about July 13, 2015, Martinez filed a timely notice of appeal (R.71).

This appeal follows.

#### E. Statement of Facts

Martinez states that his extended supervision was a result of his conviction in the State of Wisconsin Circuit Court for Washington County, Case No. 02CF284, for aggravated battery/intended-substanial bodily harm.

Martinez was sentenced to three years and six months of initial confinement, followed by ten years of extended supervision. On or about January 26, 2010, Martinez began serving the extended portion of his sentence.

Martinez asserts that, on or about August 4, 2013, revocation proceedings were initiated against Martinez to revoke his extended supervision. It was alleged that Marti-

4-

nez had physically assaulted Charles Johnson and Kristy Villanueva, and tha a knife which was found in a sewer grate was alleged to belong to Martinez.

On October 8, 2013, Martinez appeared for a scheduled extended supervision revocation hearing before Administrative Law Judge Sally Pederson (ALJ Ms. Pederson). Martinez states that what happened at the hearing, or should have happened were the subject of his petition for a writ of habeas corpus, and are the subject of this appeal.

1. The ALJ Ms. Pederson did not allow Martinez to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses during revocation of Martinez' extended supervision, namely Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson;

2. The ALJ Ms. Pederson did not make a finding of good cause justifying the witnesses not appearing at the revocation and being subject to cross-examination, the underlying facts are as follows:

a. On October 8, 2013, Martinez appeared for a scheduled extended supervision revocation hearing, before ALJ Ms. Pederson. Martinez' Extended Supervision Agent Ms. Duffy-Juoni's revocation allegations were that on <u>July 4, 2013</u> Martinez had assaulted Kristy Villanueva by punching her in the face, causing injuries which required 11 stitches to her face. Extended Supervision Agent Ms. Duffy-Juoni also alleged that on August 4, 2013, Martinez had assaulted Charles Johnson, and that a knife found in the sewer grate belong to Martinez;

b. Martinez states during the revocation hearing of October 8, 2013, Martinez had been informed that Kristy Villanueva would appear and be subject to cross-examination;

c. Martinez states that during the hearing the ALJ Ms. Pederson asked the Extended Supervision Agent Ms. Duffy-Juoni if she had any witnesses, the following exchange took place:

<u>ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE</u>: Alright, thats all for this witness. Thank you for coming in and did you have another witness Ms. Duffy-Juoni?

AGENT DUFFY-JUONI: I need to check.

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Ok. We'll go off the record until you come back.

(OFF THE RECORD)

(ON THE RECORD)

<u>ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE</u>: Ok. We're back on the record. Did you have another witness Ms. Duffy-Juoni?

AGENT DUFFY-JUONI: She did not show up.

<u>ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE</u>: So you had subpoenaed somebody else that didn't show up?

AGENT DUFFY-JUONI: That did not show up, correct.

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Right. Who was that?

AGENT DUFFY-JUONI: Kristy Villanueva.

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Alright. Alright well then, we will take your testimony Ms. Duffy-Juoni if you could raise your right hand please. (Agent sworn) (R.50:14-15)

d. Martinez states that there is no mentioning of Charles Johnson appearing to testify.

3. The ALJ Ms. Pederson did not make a finding of good cause, justifying the witnesses Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson not appearing and testifying at the hearing and being subject to cross-examination;

a. Martinez states there is no mentioning of good cause in the transcripts of the revocation proceedings.

4. The ALJ Ms. Pederson did not make a determination that the hearsay statements of Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson were reliable;

a. Martinez states there is no mentioning of the hearsay statements being reliable or credible in the revocation transcript;

b. Martinez states that the ALJ Ms. Pederson, in her written decision (J Appendix 3) of October 22, 2013, ALJ Ms Pederson stated isolated here in relevant part:

"Officer Meilahn testified that she personally observed Ms. Villanueva and could still see scarring on Ms. Villanueva's cheek and eye area on 08/04/13. Officer Meilahn credibly testified that she obtained a medical release from Ms. Villanueva and reviewed her medical records at St. Agnes Hospital which showed that Ms. Villanueva had received four stiches near her left eyebrow, four stitches under her left eye, and three stitches on her right cheek on 06/24/13. Officer's Meilahn's testimony was credible and reliable, and there is no rational reason to doubt the truthfulness of t-

. 7

he medical record."

5. Attorney Katherine Romanowich provided Martinez with ineffective assistance of counsel in the following instances, the underlying facts are as follows;

a. Attorney Romanowich did not object to the hearsay testimony of Police Officer Kristina Meilahn and Extended Supervision Agent Jennifer Duffy-Juoni, neither witnessed any of the events to which they testified to. Martinez states that Attorney Romanowich did enter an objection, isolated here in relevant part:

AGENT DUFFY-JUONI: St. Agnes Hospital.

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE: Thank you.

Q: Did you receive those reports?

- A: I did notereceive the paper copy yet that was sent up to the District Attorney's office, but I was briefed on the information that was included in those reports.
- Q: What information were you briefed on?
- A: That Kristy had seen a doctor in the emergency room on June 24th. During that contact she received eleven stitches to her face--

ATTORNEY ROMANOWICH: I would object at this point.

<u>ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE</u>: Ok, just a minute, just wait. JUst when you both are talking at the same time, it is not coming across well. So, I just want to note on the record that the Attorney is objecting. What's your objection?

ATTORNEY ROMANOWICH: Judge, obviously hearsay is

allowed at these hearings but I would argue that at this point in time Officer Meilahn is testifying to a document that she had no firsthand knowledge of. This is what I would consider to be double hearsay. She's reading a document that now she's talking about what she had read off of that document. I would argue that that kind of hearsay is not the type of hearsay that is allowed at a hearing like this. I would ask that the court not allow the Officer to testify to that kind of information. (R.50:9-10)

b. Attorney Romanowich did not object on procedural due process grounds to Martinez' rights to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson;

i. Martinez states that at no time during the revocation proceedings did Attorney Romanowich object to the failure of the witnesses to appear at the hearings.

c. Attorney Romanowich did not object to the ALJ Ms. Pederson failure to determine good cause for the witnesses Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson Failure to appear at the revocation hearing and being subject to cross-examination;

i. Martinez states that at no time during the revocation proceedings did Attorney Romanowich object to the failure of the ALJ Ms. Pederson to make a determination of good cause, justifying the witnesses absence from the hearing.

Martinez states that additional facts and references to the record will be made in the argument section.

#### F. Arguments

Martinez states in his petition for a writ of habeas corpus, pursuant to 782.01 Wis.Stats. (R.5), Martinez stated that;

 revocation of his extended supervision was contrary to the laws of the United States Constitution, namely the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause, and Sixth Amendment Counsel Clause;

2. Martinez stated that he did not have any other available remedy at law to redress the violations of his constitution rights; and

3. Martinez asserted that he was currently imprisoned for 5 years and 2 months.

Martinez states that the court, the Honorable Andrew T. Gonring, presiding circuit court judge, entered a decision and order dismissing Martinez petition for writ of habeas corpus, stating that Martinez should have filed a petition for a writ of certiorari for his claims concerning the ALJ Ms. Pederson, and that Martinez should have filed a request to the Respondent Brian Hayes (Administrator of the Department of Hearings and Appeals), and requested to file his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel with the respondent (R.69:4).

Martinez states that 782.01(1) Wis.Stats., states in relevant part, isolated here:

782.01(1) Every person restrained of personal liberty may prosecute a writ of habeas corpus to obtain relief from such restraint subject to ss.782.02 and 974.06.

Martinez states that the court has stated that in the absence of statutory provision for judicial review of revocation of probation,"the right of review of a revocation hearing is by certiorari directed to the court of convictin". <u>State ex rel. Johnson v. Cady</u>,50 Wis.2d 540,549-50,185 N.W.2d 306 (1971). The Court of Appeals has held, that habeas corpus review of probation revocation is available in circumstances in which certiorari is not available, see <u>State ex rel. McMillian v. Dickey</u>,132 Wis.2d 266,278-79,392 N.W.2d 453 (Ct.App.1986), and that habeas corpus rather then certiorari is the appropriate procedure for an allegation of inneffective assistance of counsel at a probation revocation proceeding when additional evidence is needed, <u>State v. Ramey</u>,121 Wis.2d 177,181-82,359 N.W.2d 402 (Ct.App. 1984).

Martinez states that a review court in certiorari proceedings, reviewing revocation of probation is limited to

1. Whether, the Administrative Agency kept within its jurisdiction;

2. Whether, the DHA Administrator acted according to 1aw in making the decision.

3. Whether, the Administrator's decision was arbitrary, oppressive or unreasonable and represented the Agency's will

rather than its judgement.

Whether, based on the evidence, the Administrator could reasonably have decided as he or she did. See <u>State ex</u> <u>rel. Griffin v. Smith</u>, 2004 WI 36, n. 4, 270 Wis. 2d 235, 239, n. 4,
677 N.W. 2d 259.

Martinez states that the issues regarding the proper forum for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in revocation proceedings, was addressed by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in <u>State ex rel. Vanderbeke v. Endicott</u>,210 Wis. 2d 883 (1997), there the court stated:

> The court stated that in the absence of statutory provisions for judicial review of a revocation of probation, the "right of review of a revocation hearing is by certiorari directed to the court of conviction." <u>Cady</u>,50 Wis.2d 540 at 549-50. The Court of Appeals has held, however, that habeas corpus review of probation revocation is available in circumstances in which certiorari is not available, <u>State ex rel. McMillian v. Dickey</u>,132 Wis. 2d 266,278-79, 392 N.W.2d 453 (Ct.App. 1986), and that habeas rather then certiorari is the appropriate procedure for an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel at probation revocation proceedings, when additional evidence is needed. Id. Vanderbeke,210 Wis.2d 502 at 522.

Martinez states that the Circuit Court Judge, the Honorable Andrew T. Gonring, presiding, erroneously excerci-

sed his discretion in deciding that habeas corpus was not the proper forum to pursue claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Martinez states the facts and law support the conclusion, that a writ of habeas corpus should have issued.

1. The Administrative Law Judge did not allow Martinez to confront and cross-examine Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson, during the revocation proceedings.

Martinez states that according to <u>Morrissey v. Brew-</u> <u>er</u>,408 U.S. 471,482,92 S.Ct. 2593 (1972), the court held that the due process clause required the following minimum protections in revocation proceedings;

(a) written notice of the claimed violations of parole; (b) disclosure to the parolee of evidence against him; (c) opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentrary evidence; (d) the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses (unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation); (e) a "neutral and detached" hearing body such as a traditional parole board, members of which need not be judicial officers or lawyers; and (f) a written statement by the factfinders as to the evidence relied on and reason for revoking parole. Id. 408 U.S. 471 at 489.

Martinez states that in the case presently before the court, that Martinez had been informed that the witnesses would appear at the hearing and be subject to cross-examination.

Martinez states that at one point during the proceedings, the Extended Supervision Agent Duffy-Juoni steppedout of the hearing searching for Kristy Villanueva (R.50:14 15). Ms. Villanueva did not appear on her own volition.

Martinez states that Charles Johnson did not appear and the transcript from the revocation hearing, appears to indicate that the Agent Ms. Duffy-Juoni was not expecting for him to appear (R.50:20), and that there was no mentioning of Charles Johnson failure to appear.

Martinez states at no time did the ALJ Ms. Pederson make a determination during the revocation proceedings, that Martinez would not be allowed to confront and cross-examine the witnesses Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson.

Martinez states that in these proceedings, Martinez never had any chance to confront and cross-examine the witnesses, there was no preliminary hearing where the witnesses were made available and subject to cross-examination.

Martinez states that the court in <u>Morrissey</u>, made clear, revocation involves a loss of liberty and inflicts a "grievous loss" on the parolee, the Due Process Clause in the Fourteenth Amendment demands that parolee's have an opportunity to be heard before the decision to revoke parole is made. <u>Morrissey</u>,408 U.S. 471 at 482, and 487.

In the case presently before the court, there was no determination made by the hearing examiner that Martinez could not confront these witnesses. There was no determination made, that the witnesses statements were reliable. And,

no where in the Agent's Ms. Duffy-Juoni's Revocation Summary (Ex.#3 page 1 in R:31) in the Violation Statement (Allegation Format), do the dates corroborate Kristy Villanueva statements (Ex.#6 in R.31) or the Police Reports (Ex.#4 in R.31), regarding the alleged violations.

Furthermore, Ex.#4 in the R.31, there is no Police Report (#13-8854) regarding the June 24, 2013, incident. You have Police Reports of August 4, 2013 (#13-7470), but no Police Reports of June 24, 2013, that Attorney Romanowich allowed Officer Meilahn to testify to without raising any objection. The following exchange took place:

<u>ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE</u>: I just have one follow-up and then we'll have cross exam by Attorney Romanowich. Based upon what you read on that medical record, did it appear that the injuries requiring the stitches were consistent with anything that Ms. Vilanueva had told you about being, I think you said the word attacked by Mr. Vincent three weeks prior.

A: Yes, she had stated to me that he had punched her repeatedly in the face and that's when she felt and saw blood dripping down from the area of her face where she received stitches. (R.50:12)

Martinez further states that, there was no previous warning to Martinez that Officer Meilahn would be permitted to testify as an expert, or give a qualified opinion of the injuries sustained by Ms. Villanueva.

Martinez states that he never had a chance to challenge

the statements of Kristy Villanueva and Charles Johnson, their account of the events that occurred on August 4, 2013, or on any other date. Martinez could not show that their account of events were not reliable.

Martinez states that the police reports used during the revocation proceedings were not reliable, the police reports did not fall within a firmly rooted exception to the hearsay rules, they were not reliable source as indicated by the testimony of Officer Meilahn. Officer Meilahn demonstrated her willingness to distort the truth, and to change her story. When being questioned by Agent Duffy-Juoni, Officer Meilahn indicated that she had not read the medical reports, that she had been briefed on the contents of the medical reports. Officer Meilahn began explaining how she had been briefed.

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