# RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-20-2015

COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

## DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP2095

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. VINCENT MARTINEZ,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN HAYES,

Respondent-Respondent.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE JULY 6, 2015, DECISION OF THE WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, CASE NO. 14-CV-594, THE HONORABLE ANDREW T. GONRING, PRESIDING

#### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

ABIGAIL C. S. POTTS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1060762

Attorneys for Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-7292 (608) 267-8906 (Fax) pottsac@doj.state.wi.us

##

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

#### ARGUMENT

This case is about whether Martinez is allowed to bring his revocation challenge through a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. It is the State's position that Martinez cannot use habeas to challenge the agency's decision because he had other adequate remedies available to him. And, even if this Court decides that a petition for a writ of habeas corpus is proper in this case, the circuit court properly dismissed the petition because the record is sufficient to determine that Martinez's counsel was not ineffective.

I. This Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of Martinez's petition for writ of habeas corpus because Martinez had adequate remedies available at law.

## A. Habeas relief is barred unless the party seeking habeas relief shows a lack of adequate remedies available at law.

A "[w]rit of habeas corpus is an equitable remedy that protects a person's right to personal liberty by freeing him or her from illegal confinement." *State ex rel. Washington* v. State, 2012 WI App 74, ¶ 18, 343 Wis. 2d 434, 819 N.W.2d 305 (quoting *State v. Pozo*, 2002 WI App 279, ¶ 8, 258 Wis. 2d 796, 654 N.W.2d 12). But habeas corpus is an extraordinary writ that is only available to a petitioner under limited circumstances. *State ex rel. L'Minggio v. Gamble*, 2003 WI 82, ¶ 18, 263 Wis. 2d 55, 667 N.W.2d 1. A petitioner who seeks habeas corpus relief must show that: (1) he is restrained of his liberty; (2) the restraint was imposed by a tribunal without jurisdiction or that the restraint was imposed contrary to constitutional protections; and (3) there was no other adequate remedy available in the law. *Id*.

If there is an adequate remedy available in the law, "habeas corpus is not available to the petitioner." State ex rel. Krieger v. Borgen, 2004 WI App 163, ¶ 5, 276 Wis. 2d 96, 687 N.W.2d 79. In Kreiger, this Court determined that habeas relief was properly denied "because [the petitioner] cannot show that he pursued other remedies available to him in the law." Id. ¶ 13.

## B. Martinez is not entitled to habeas relief because a *Booker* motion was an adequate remedy available to him.

Martinez's habeas petition was properly dismissed because he could have sought a *Booker* motion. A *Booker* motion precludes habeas relief because it provides Martinez with an adequate and available remedy at law.

Martinez claims that habeas is the appropriate avenue for pursuing his ineffective assistance claim. But the case law supporting Martinez's position predates the availability of a *Booker* motion.

The potential of using *habeas* to claim ineffective assistance of revocation counsel was addressed in three reported Wisconsin decisions in the 1980s and 1990s. In chronological order, they were *State v. Ramey*, 121 Wis. 2d 177, 359 N.W.2d 402 (Ct. App. 1984), State ex rel. Vanderbeke v. Endicott, 210 Wis. 2d 502, 563 N.W.2d 883 (1997), and State ex rel. Reddin v. Galster, 215 Wis. 2d 179, 572 N.W.2d 505 (Ct. App. 1997). Reddin, issued in November 1997, is the latest reported decision addressing that issue.

Vanderbeke viewed Ramey as having held that "habeas rather than certiorari is the appropriate procedure for an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel at a probation revocation proceeding when additional evidence is needed." Vanderbeke, 210 Wis. 2d at 522-23. Based on Ramey, Vanderbeke concluded that "habeas corpus was a proper method for Vanderbeke to use in challenging his probation revocation on the grounds of violation of due process because of incompetency and lack of counsel." Id.

Several months later, the court of appeals in *Reddin* viewed *Ramey* as having *"intimated* that a writ of habeas corpus may be available to raise a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during probation revocation proceedings." Reddin, 215 Wis. 2d at 186 (emphasis added). *Reddin* also viewed *Ramey* as having held that "a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during probation revocation proceedings could not be addressed on certiorari review, because the scope of that review focuses solely on the actions and determinations of the administrative decision maker." Id.

Then, seven years after *Reddin*, a new remedy was created by the court of appeals in State ex rel. Booker v. Schwarz, 2004 WI App 50, 270 Wis. 2d 745, 678 N.W.2d 361. The *Booker* case expressly created a remedy through which Martinez could have sought, and may still seek, to re-open his revocation case. Id. ¶¶ 9-14. Under Booker, an offender whose probation or parole was revoked has a right to move the DHA Administrator to reopen the revocation case. Id. ¶ 20. In Booker, probation was revoked through an ALJ decision and later affirmed by the DHA Administrator. Id.  $\P$  4. Six years later, with Booker still incarcerated based on the revocation, "Booker filed a motion with the Division seeking to vacate the revocation or, in the alternative, an evidentiary hearing to determine whether newly discovered evidence entitled him to a new revocation hearing." Id. ¶ 5. The DHA Administrator denied the motion. Id. ¶ 7. This Court held that, even without authority expressly allowing the DHA Administrator to re-open revocation proceedings, justice and due process required the Administrator to consider newly discovered evidence in civil revocation proceedings. Id. ¶¶ 9-14.

The five-prong test applicable in criminal proceedings now applies to motions to reopen filed with the DHA Administrator in civil revocation settings:

The evidence must have come to the moving party's knowledge after a trial; (2) the moving party must not have been negligent in seeking to discover it; (3) the evidence must be material to the issue;
(4) the testimony must not be merely cumulative to

the testimony which was introduced at trial; and (5) it must be reasonably probable that a different result would be reached on a new trial.

Id. ¶ 12 (quoting State v. Bembenek, 140 Wis. 2d 248, 252, 409 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1987)).

Denials by the Administrator of *Booker* motions may be challenged through certiorari review. *Id.* ¶ 1. It is well-established that, where there are no statutory provisions for judicial review, the actions of a board or commission may be reviewed by certiorari. *State ex rel. Johnson v. Cady*, 50 Wis. 2d 540, 549-50, 185 N.W.2d 306 (1971).

Using a *Booker* motion to challenge ineffective assistance of counsel in the probation revocation setting makes sense. The Booker motion remedy is better suited than habeas to address ineffective assistance of counsel claims because it allows the agency to determine whether the motion makes sufficient allegations to warrant a hearing and, if so, allows the original fact finder-the ALJ in this case—to evaluate counsel's effectiveness. In this sense, the Booker motion remedy creates a remedy for ineffective assistance claims that parallels the post-conviction evidentiary hearing used by criminal defendants making the same claim, referred to as a *Machner* hearing. See State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

*Booker* provides probationers with an adequate and available remedy to challenge ineffective assistance of revocation counsel, just like criminal defendants may pursue an ineffective assistance of counsel claim with a motion for a new trial. It makes no sense that probationers would be permitted to make such a challenge in habeas when criminal defendants cannot, especially when certiorari, not habeas, is the common method for reviewing probation revocation.

Martinez does not allege that he made a *Booker* motion to the DHA Administrator. Martinez's habeas petition was properly dismissed because he has not, and cannot, successfully show that his *Booker* remedies were or are unavailable or inadequate.

## C. Habeas is inappropriate because Martinez had an adequate and available remedy through certiorari review.

Martinez's habeas petition was properly dismissed because a *Booker* motion was, and is, an adequate and available alternate remedy. But Martinez is also undeserving of habeas relief because he could have obtained the same relief through certiorari.

Martinez seeks relief, through habeas, from the custody effects of having his extended supervision revoked by the DHA Administrator. Habeas relief is generally precluded in revocation settings because certiorari review is "the common route for reviewing probation [or parole] revocations, not a habeas writ." *Prison Litig. Reform Act in State ex rel. Cramer v. Schwarz*, 2000 WI 86, ¶ 48, 236 Wis. 2d 473, 613 N.W.2d 591.

Martinez argues that habeas is appropriate because his petition includes a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. (Martinez Br. 11.) The problem with this argument is that Martinez's petition identifies other grounds for obtaining the same relief he requests—relief from the revocation decision—that he could have pursued through a timely certiorari review of the November 12, 2013, decision.

For example, Martinez claims that "there is no doubt that it was error for the administrative law judge to fail to make the required finding of good cause" and that "not only did the hearing officer fail to make the required finding of good cause, the hearing examiner failed to find that the hearsay was reliable" and instead determined that Officer Kristina Meilahn was credible and reliable, "[a] determination [that] misses the point." (R. 5:7.) Those arguments are cognizable in certiorari reviews of revocation decisions, and a favorable certiorari review decision could have provided Martinez with the relief he now seeks through habeas—relief from the revocation decision. *See Johnson*, 50 Wis. 2d at 548-51.

The fact that the revocation decision *could* have been vacated based on these or other arguments is fatal to this habeas action. More precisely, Martinez cannot prove that a certiorari challenge to the revocation decision was futile or provided no possibility of providing him the same relief he now seeks.

Martinez claims that he can pursue this habeas case because he asserts a *ground* for relief that he could not have pursued in a certiorari review, namely, ineffective assistance of revocation counsel. The adequate remedy question, however, does not turn on whether a petitioner could assert precisely the same *grounds* for obtaining the relief available in habeas. It turns on whether the petitioner could obtain that same *relief*, *i.e.*, release from alleged illegal detention. In other words, Martinez needed to at least attempt to pursue his other options, instead of going straight to habeas.

If the habeas "petitioner has an otherwise adequate remedy that he or she may exercise to obtain the same relief, the writ will not be issued." State ex rel. Haas v. *McReynolds*, 2002 WI 43, ¶ 14, 252 Wis. 2d 133. 643 N.W.2d 771 (emphasis added). Martinez had an adequate remedy to "obtain the same relief" within the meaning of *Haas*. Id. He could have pursued a certiorari action grounded on his arguments about alleged defects by the decision-making agency without any mention of the quality of the assistance provided by his revocation counsel. He cannot prove that certiorari review, if pursued, would not have resulted in his obtaining the same relief he now pursues.

Assuming for sake of argument that, under the *Ramey*, *Vanderbeke*, and *Reddin* cases discussed above, certiorari remains an inadequate means to challenge detention based on ineffective assistance by revocation counsel, that does *not* make certiorari an inadequate remedy when the habeas petitioner had other challenges to the revocation decision that were cognizable in certiorari.

Martinez has not demonstrated that they would not have succeeded. Martinez cannot exclude the potential that certiorari was an adequate and available remedy for the relief he now seeks.

## II. Even if Martinez is allowed to proceed under habeas, his petition was properly dismissed because the record shows his counsel was effective.

Martinez's petition for habeas relief was properly dismissed because he had other available remedies to address his claims. But even if this Court allows him to proceed under habeas, Martinez is not entitled to relief because there is sufficient evidence in the record to show that his counsel was effective.<sup>2</sup>

Martinez alleges that his revocation attorney did not assert sufficient challenges to the reliability of the evidence on which the revocation decision was based. (R. 5:3, 8-9.) But the record contradicts that premise. It reveals repeated substantive objections by his revocation attorney to the reliability of that evidence.

Revocation hearings are different than criminal trials.

"[R]evocation of parole is not part of a criminal prosecution and thus the full panoply of rights due a defendant in such a proceeding does not apply to parole

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Martinez raises other issues in his brief on appeal—such as errors by the ALJ—but it is undisputed that those issues are cognizable through certiorari. As such, habeas relief is not available to Martinez on those claims.

revocations." *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 480 (1972). As such, a revocation decision based *entirely* on hearsay "is sufficient to prove a probation violation so long as the hearsay is reliable." *State ex rel. Simpson v. Schwarz*, 2002 WI App 7, ¶ 30, n.6, 250 Wis. 2d 214, 640 N.W.2d 527.

Given the law, it would have been pointless for the revocation attorney representing Martinez to object to the admission of the hearsay evidence. And such fruitless objections may well have been perceived negatively by the decision-makers. *See, e.g., State v. Walberg,* 109 Wis. 2d 96, 107-08, 325 N.W.2d 687 (1982) (noting that the trial court expressed "irritation with defense counsel for bringing what it believed to be 'frivolous' motions and objections, and generally wasting the court's time"); *Rubin v. State,* 192 Wis. 1, 9, 211 N.W. 926 (1927) (while attorneys are entitled to make objections, they are never entitled to argue "frivolous objections").

Instead, Martinez's attorney was constrained to arguing that the hearsay evidence admitted was not *reliable*. His revocation attorney acted as effectively as the circumstances allowed. The attorney interrupted Officer Meilahn to interpose a foundation objection that resulted in the ALJ clarifying some issues through additional questioning. (Tr. 6-8.)<sup>3</sup> The revocation attorney also interposed an objection about "double hearsay" that caused

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Citations to "Tr." reference the transcript of the hearing on October 8, 2013, located at (R. 50) in the appeals record.

the ALJ to evaluate and consider the evidence being presented, to note that, when the ALJ issued the decision. she would "consider whether I think that the double hearsay testimony that I'm hearing does have a sufficient indicia of reliability," and then to get the questioning back on track. (Tr. 10-11.) On cross-examination, his revocation attorney established how dependent the testimony of Officer Meilahn was on hearsay statements by others, a critical part of the attorney's efforts to undercut the reliability of DHA's evidence. (Tr. 13.) The attorney's questioning of the agent confirmed that the agent was not present during the underlying incidents, another critical part of those efforts. (Tr. 20.) Then, in closing arguments, Martinez's attorney presented a strong set of arguments as could be presented for the hearsay statements being deemed unreliable. (Tr. 22-24.)

Regardless of the quality of these efforts, they were unsuccessful. The ALJ decided to revoke the extended supervision of Martinez and, since his revocation attorney was on leave, a supervising attorney appealed and made a strong set of arguments attacking the reliability of the statements. (R. 31:69-70.)

Martinez has to overcome a presumption that his revocation attorney provided "adequate assistance within the bounds of reasonable professional judgment." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 78, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. Indeed, he had to "overcome the 'strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." State v. Romero-Georgana, 2014 WI 83, ¶ 40, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 849 N.W.2d 668 (emphasis added) (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984)). He cannot obtain an evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance merely by asserting that objections should have been asserted. State v. Pinno, 2014 WI 74, ¶ 87, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207.

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